IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Supreme Court Case No.: SC01-736

The Florida Bar File

Nos. 2000-51, 031(11D)

2000-70, 361(11D)

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant/ Appellee,

v.

BARTLEY CHARLES MILLER,

Respondent/ Appellant,

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT/APPELLANT BARTLEY CHARLES MILLER

EDMUND M. ARISTONE, JR., ESQUIRE Attorney for Bartley Charles Miller

Florida Bar No.:0076422

1151 North Atlantic Boulevard, # 11C

Fort Lauderdale, FL 33304

Telephone: 954-566-1717

JURISDICTION

The Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Rule 3-1.2, 3-3.1 and 3-7.7 of the Supreme Court of Florida in that Appellant Bartley C. Miller, appeals the report of referee the Honorable Arthur Rothenberg.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case involves attorney Bartley C. Miller's

(hereinafter referred to as "Miller") good faith belief

and interpretation of the extremely technical and ever

evolving legal procedures in employment discrimination

litigation. In late January 1998, the Equal Employment

Opportunity Commission (hereinafter referred to as

"EEOC") issued a Right to Sue Letter that it declared was

inadvertently sent to Miller's client Dr. Roberta

Santini. The EEOC within weeks of issuing the invalid

letter advised Miller's, then associate Heidi Freidman, to disregard the letter and that a valid and complete Right to Sue Letter would be forthcoming. (Testimony of Shari Levine, transcript P. 113, lines 3-22) Attorney Friedman handled all of Miller's EEOC complaints from start until receipt of the Right to Sue Letter (Id. at Page 109, lines 19-25 and testimony of Bartley C. Miller, Page 128, lines 8-25) The EEOC issued the second valid Right to Sue Letter on March 2, 1998. (Id.) Miller pursuant to Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000(e), et. seq. had 90 days to file suit upon receipt of the EEOC letter. Miller's law associates drafted and prepared the lawsuit for employment discrimination and same was calendered by his staff to file the lawsuit within 90 days of the March 2, 1998 letter. (Id. at P. 114 lines 8-20 and testimony of Bartley C. Miller, p. 131, lines 23-25 ad P. 132, lines 1-25) However, the lawsuit was filed on May 28, 1998 several days past the first invalid and incomplete letter issued by the EEOC but within the time requirements of the valid and legally acceptable second Right to Sue Letter.

Miller's involvement in the case did not begin until the lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida. Within weeks of the

lawsuit being filed Miller left his firm and joined another law firm. Dr. Santini approximately one (1) month later requested Miller to take over her case and Miller agreed. After Miller's departure from his original law firm, the file was held by the prior law firm and Miller was unaware and did not have the first invalid Right to Sue Letter (Testimony of Bartley C. Miller, transcript at P. 134, lines 9-18 and page 138, lines 23 - 25 and page 139, lines 1-18)

The Defendant in the employment discrimination case was the Cleveland Clinic Florida (hereinafter referred to as "CLINIC"). The Clinic filed the standard answer and affirmative defenses in employment law cases.

(Transcript P. 37, lines 21-25 and page 38, lines 1-4)
One of the defenses raised by the Clinic was Plaintiff's failure to timely file her lawsuit after receipt of the first invalid EEOC Right to Sue Letter.

The EEOC, after determining it issued the first Right to Sue Letter in error, issued and forwarded a second and legally valid Right to Sue Letter to all parties including the Clinic. (Testimony of Jim Colon, P. 71, lines 1-8 and P. 72 lines 10-15) The Clinic never submitted a request to produce to Dr. Santini, never subpoenaed the records from the EEOC or filed any discovery requests to Dr. Santini as to why the EEOC

issued two (2) Right to Sue Letters. (Transcript P. 17, lines 2-9) Local Rule 26.1A of the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida governing discovery disclosure opted out of Fed. R. Civ. P. 26 which requires any party to disclose documents that pertain to the pleadings at issue. (Testimony of Bartley C. Miller, Transcript P. 180, lines 3-25) S. D. FLA. L. R. 26.1A states "the disclosure requirements imposed by Rule 26(a)(1)-(4), Fed. R. Civ. P., and the early discovery moratorium imposed by Rule 26(d), Fed. R. Civ. P., shall not apply to civil proceedings in this Court." (Emphasis Added) Therefore, Miller was under no obligation to come forward with information that his client had received the first Right to Sue Letter. (Id. at P. 179, lines 5-20) More importantly, the first letter was not considered valid by the EEOC and thus, was not material to the case and a lawsuit could not have been filed based on the first invalid Right to Sue Letter (Testimony of Jim Colon at Transcript P. 73, lines 21-25 and P. 74, line 10 and testimony of Fred Behul at Transcript P. 82, lines 5-25, P. 84, lines 16-25 and P. 85, lines 1-15).

Jim Colon from the EEOC testified that a review of the file by the EEOC revealed the January 1998 Right to Sue Letter was not complete and thus, the reason the EEOC

issued the second Right to Sue Letter in March 1998 which it considered to be controlling (Testimony of Jim Colon, transcript P. 71, lines 5-7 and P. 72, lines 6-14). Mr. Colon testified Dr. Santini had 90 days from the date of the second Right to Sue Letter to file her lawsuit (Id. at P. 73, lines 21-25). Fred Behul from the Broward County Human Rights Division that investigated Dr. Santini's claim for the EEOC, testified that the first Right to Sue Letter was a nullity and Dr. Santini could not have filed her lawsuit with the invalid January 1998 Right to Sue Letter issued by the EEOC. (Testimony of Behul, transcript P. 85, lines 2-15, P. 86, lines 1-5) The Clinic moved for summary judgment in February 1999 asking the Court to dismiss Plaintiff's federal claims because Plaintiff failed to file her complaint within 90 days of the invalid January 1998 EEOC letter. (Testimony of Bartley Miller, transcript P. 135, lines 1-25 and P. 136, lines 1-25) Miller filed a response to the Summary Judgment in which he made no misrepresentations about the invalid Right to Sue Letter. (Id. at transcript P. 155, lines 3-16) In fact, Miller never admitted nor denied his client had received the first invalid letter. argued the invalid Right to Sue Letter was improperly delivered to Dr. Santini since it was delivered to her mother's residence and not to Dr. Santini's residence

(Id. at, Transcript P. 155, lines 13-16, P. 158, lines 2-14, P. 166, lines 7-12) The issue of the EEOC issuing an invalid Right to Sue Letter and same being delivered to another address other than where the party resided had not been decided by the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeal and thus, there were was no legal precedent. (Id. at., transcript P. 157, lines 3-10).

Miller references the invalid Right to Sue Letter throughout his response memorandum of law (Id. at, transcript P. 159, lines 5-25 and P. 160, lines 1-18) The Clinic in its reply memorandum pointed out to the trial court that Dr. Santini did not contest the undisputed fact that she had received the first invalid Right to Sue Letter. (Id. at, transcript P. 166, line 14-25 and P. 167, lines 1-25).

The trial court held two (2) hearings on the Clinic's motion for summary judgment. Miller filed the affidavit of Heidi Friedman in which she prepared and stated she had only received one Right to Sue Letter from the EEOC. (Id. at P. 162, lines 23-25) The affidavit did not state Dr. Santini had forwarded the first invalid Right to Sue Letter to her. The purpose of Ms. Friedman's affidavit was to establish the EEOC did not mail her a copy of the invalid Right to Sue Letter as was mailed to the Clinic's attorney. (Testimony of Bartley C. Miller, transcript P.

135, lines 1-25 and P. 136, lines 1-25) When Miller met with Ms. Friedman to discuss the matter, Ms. Friedman stated "I never received it" when referring to the January 1998 Right to Sue Letter. (Id. at P. 139, lines 1-14). At the beginning of the first hearing, the Clinic abandoned their defense that receipt by counsel triggers the 90 day filing requirements. (Id. at P. 164, lines 12-25 and P. 165, lines 1-25). At the second follow-up hearing, Miller abandoned the issue of whether Dr. Santini received the first Right to Sue Letter and continued with other valid legal arguments.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Miller did not violate the Rules of Professional Conduct governing lawyers. At the time, Miller made his legal arguments, he had a good faith belief that his arguments were sound and within reason. Both the EEOC and the Broward County Human Rights Division held the same legal opinion as did Miller regarding the January 1998 invalid Right to Sue Letter. The legal arguments advanced by Miller were very technical but within the limits of the law at the time they were made.

Miller had no legal or moral obligation to come forward with immaterial and irrelevant information regarding the

invalid January 1998 Right to Sue Letter. There is no duty imposed upon a lawyer to supply his opposing counsel with the proof that party needs to carry its legal burden.

The sanctions recommended by the referee are erroneous and unsupported not only by the facts and circumstances but by the case law setting forth the standard for similar acts of misconduct. The standards for imposing sanctions should the court find Miller acted inappropriately would be either a public reprimand or admonishment. Miller's actions, if taken as inappropriate, do not give rise to the sanctions recommended by the referee. Irrespective of Miller's good faith belief and the correctness of his technical argument, he took remedial steps before any irreparable harm was done on the merits of the motion and the merits of the case itself.

The referee's findings of fact and recommended sanctions were prepared and submitted by counsel for The Florida

Bar. Miller was never provided the opportunity to contest or otherwise respond to the proposed order submitted by

The Florida Bar. The law is well settled that a trial court is not allowed to relinquish its obligations to preparing sensitive orders to opposing counsel. In the present case, the referee committed reversible error by

relinquishing his obligation of preparing his findings of facts and recommendations to counsel for The Florida Bar.

I. WHETHER THE FLORIDA BAR PRESENTED CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE THAT ATTORNEY BARTLEY MILLER VIOLATED THE RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT GOVERNING ATTORNEYS.

Miller did not violate Rules 4-3.3(a)(1),(A lawyer shall not knowingly make a false statement of material fact or law to a tribunal); 4-3.4(a)(A lawyer shall not unlawfully obstruct another party's access to evidence or otherwise unlawfully alter, destroy, or conceal a document to other material that the lawyer knows or reasonably should know is relevant to a pending proceeding; nor counsel or assist a witness to testify falsely) and 4-8.4(c) (A Lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation of the Rules of Professional Conduct. The Florida Bar failed to carry its heavy burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence that Miller violated the above Rules. The Florida Bar failed to provide any witnesses at trial. Miller on the other hand presented the testimony Jim Colon from the EEOC that the first Right to Sue Letter was not valid and Dr. Santini

could not have filed her lawsuit based on that letter.

Miller presented testimony of Fred Behul from the Broward

County Human Rights Division and Fair Practices

Employment Agency of the EEOC that investigated Dr.

Santini's Charge of Discrimination. Mr. Behul testified

that the January 1998 Right to Sue Letter was not valid

and that only the second letter dated March 2, 1998

provided Miller the jurisdiction to file his lawsuit on

behalf of his client in federal court.

The legal arguments advanced by Miller during the summary judgment proceedings were highly technical but were well within the law as it was at the time. There is no duty to come forward absent a proper discovery request, to supply an adverse party with the proof that party needs to carry its burden. For example, if a party knows of a witness to a collision that is adverse to him and no discovery request is made, the non-moving party may properly defend against the summary judgment motion by asserting that the movant has failed to carry his burden. He is under no duty to gratuitously supply that witness to his adversary. That is the factual scenario in this case and Miller should not be sanctioned.

A complete review of Miller's response memorandum reveals he never denied Dr. Santini's receipt of the invalid January 1998 Right to Sue Letter. In fact, several times

in the response Miller admits Santini received the first Right to Sue Letter. Miller never hid any evidence. Miller is the one who subpoenaed Ms. Friedman to the hearing. Although Miller objected to some questions Ms. Friedman was asked by the Clinic's counsel, that is what litigation/trial attorneys do. Miller never told Ms. Friedman before, during or after the hearing not to tell the truth. Ms. Friedman told the truth and thus, there was no irreparable harm.

At the time Miller made his arguments to the Court, he had a well founded belief that his legal position was well taken. The EEOC and Broward County Human Rights Division itself believed the January 1998 Right to Sue Letter was a nullity and not valid and thus not material to the case. Given those facts, Miller was entitled to believe and did believe the January 1998 letter had no legal effect. The Magistrate's ruling on the merits does not affect what Miller, the EEOC and Broward County Human Rights Division reasonably believed at the time. The federal and state discrimination laws are very technical and evolving. The employment discrimination laws and procedures are extremely complex, contradictory and confusing. Miller should not be sanctioned because a court did not agree with his interpretation of the law as it stood that time.

The Florida Bar's Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, 6.12 provides for suspension if material information has been withheld, and no remedial action has been taken. Although as noted, Miller maintains that at the time of his actions he honestly believed no information was improperly withheld, remedial action was taken before any irreparable harm was done. The Florida Bar failed to present evidence to contradict this fact. Despite the fact that the Magistrate made some crucial errors in his sanctions Order (e.g. asserting that a discovery request had been made for the document at issue, when in fact no such request was made; assuming that the Rules required disclosure when in fact they did not; and failing to understand Miller's distinction between delivery and receipt), Miller took remedial action to totally eliminate the question of Dr. Santini's receipt of the undated right to sue letter and its subsequent fax transmission to Heidi Friedman. After all the pleadings were filed on the Clinic's Motion for Summary Judgment, the Magistrate held two hearings. At the first hearing on May 21, 1999, Heidi Friedman testified that Dr. Santini had faxed the undated right to sue letter to her on February 2, 1998. Thus, the matter was fully disclosed at that point, before any ruling on the Motion for Summary Judgment. At the June 1, 1999

hearing, Miller totally abandoned any claim regarding Dr. Santini's receipt of the undated letter.

Thus, irrespective of Miller's belief in the correctness of his procedural position, he took remedial steps before any irreparable harm was done on the merits of the Motion, and the merits of the case itself. As a result, Standard 6.12 which calls for suspension if no remedial action is taken does not apply and a lesser sanction, if any, should be applied.

The critical act of remedial action as well as several other important facts serve to distinguish this case from The Florida Bar v. Cox, 794 So.2d 1279 (Fla. 2001) cited by the Bar to the referee. Ms. Cox was a federal prosecutor who called a crucial witness during trial and had the witness identify herself with a fictitious name given to her by Customs; this, despite a direct and unequivocal pre-trial Order directing the government to disclose her true name. The defense was thus deprived of the Constitutional right of confrontation, and the opportunity to cross-examine the witness about numerous items which substantially affected her credibility. The defense also made numerous strategic moves during the trial as a direct result of the prosecutor's subterfuge. When Cox's misdeeds were discovered, the Court felt it had no alternative but to grant a mistrial and to

ultimately dismiss the indictment on double jeopardy grounds. The judicial system was thus totally deprived of the opportunity to try the defendant in a significant criminal case, and to have a jury decide the case. The Florida Supreme Court, in ordering a one year suspension for Ms. Cox, pointed out the higher duty of prosecutors because of their unique powers and responsibilities, embodied in Rule 4-3.8 entitled "Special responsibilities of a prosecutor." As a direct result of the prosecutor's actions, "the actual result, dismissal with prejudice, was a significant adverse effect on the legal proceeding." Cox, supra, at 1283. In the case at bar, Miller's actions did not have a permanent effect on the proceedings. The only effect was to delay the ultimate disposition of the Motion for Summary Judgment, which was granted after Miller abandoned the issue of receipt by Dr. Santini.

II. WHETHER THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION OF A TWO (2) YEAR SUSPENSION IS APPROPRIATE IN LIGHT OF THE FACTS,

CIRCUMSTANCES AND MITIGATING FACTORS.

The standards for Imposing Sanctions include:

Public reprimand is appropriate when a lawyer negligently fails to comply with a court order or rule, and causes injury or potential injury to a client or other party, or causes interference or potential interference with a legal proceeding.

At worst, that is what happened here: an interference or potential interference with a legal proceeding. Standard 6.24 also bears note:

Admonishment is appropriate when a lawyer negligently fails to comply with a court order or rule, and causes little or no injury to a party, or causes little or no actual or potential interference with a legal proceeding.

The bar also supplied the Court with Standards 7.1 and 7.2, but neglected to mention 7.3, which states:

Public reprimand is appropriate when a

lawyer negligently engages in conduct that is a violation of a duty owed as a professional and causes injury or potential injury to a client, the public, or the legal system.

And 7.4, which states:

Admonishment is appropriate when a lawyer is negligent in determining whether the lawyer's conduct violates a duty owed as a professional, and causes little or no actual or potential injury to a client, the public or the legal system.

Standard 7.4 seems particularly appropriate and appears to fit the facts here. Given that Miller took a technical view justified by the Rules, at most he may have been negligent in determining whether he should have taken the stance he did. In the final analysis, his actions caused little injury.

Even if the Court were to find that Miller's conduct was

intentional (as opposed to negligent, or technically correct, albeit imprudent) the cases that deal with similar conduct without the overlay of additional violations call for lesser sanctions than were recommended by the referee. The Cox one-year suspension involving a federal prosecutor with a higher duty who suborned perjury and caused the severe damage of a dismissal of a criminal case, seems to represent the outer limits of discipline for cases involving false statements or testimony. But Cox unusual, given the stricter standard of accountability for prosecutors, and the unconscionable result of a serious criminal case being dismissed as a direct result of her actions. Miller neither gave nor suborned such testimony, was not a prosecutor, and caused no irreparable damage. His actions related to representations in pleadings, and failing to disclose a document which he believed he had no duty to disclose. The document itself proved to be totally irrelevant to both Plaintiff and Defendant.

The following cases, involving <u>intentional</u> conduct, offer relevant guidelines, and are far more representative of the range of penalties applicable to such conduct.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Tobin</u>, 674 So.2d 127 (Fla. 1996), Mr. Tobin represented a client in an action against an insurance company. A final judgment was entered for Plaintiff, and the Defendant deposited money into the court

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