IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v.

BARTLEY CHARLES MILLER,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No. SC01-736

The Florida Bar File Nos. 2000-51,031(11D) 2000-70,361(11D)

The Florida Bar's Answer Brief

VIVIAN MARIA REYES

Bar Counsel Florida Bar No. 004235 The Florida Bar 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite M-100 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS

Staff Counsel Florida Bar No. 253847 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5839

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR.

Executive Director Florida Bar No. 123390 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5839

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

Argument portion of this Answer Brief.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent's first argument ostensibly pertains to the correctness of the factual findings of guilt. The Referee found that Respondent was in violation of three rules.

Respondent has not recognized the authority applicable to appellate review of factual findings. Furthermore, he has not presented any coherent argument to the effect that there is a lack of competent substantial evidence. Rather, he seeks to reargue the legal issue of the ninety day calculation, and to defend his conduct, apparently seeking de novo review.

Respondent totally ignores the Bar's evidence. He advances his argument without references to the record or any citations to authority.

The Bar has presented an edited version of a fifty page order dealing with Respondent's misconduct. That evidence established that Respondent was guilty of deception, misrepresentation, concealment, disingenuous arguments and more. The factual details, based upon extremely competent and substantial evidence, are set forth extensively in the Bar's Statement of the Case and Facts and in the Argument portion of this brief. As stated above, Respondent seeks to reargue the basis for calculating the ninety day filing period for an EEOC complaint. That matter has been resolved adversely to the Respondent and his client. That reargument is not relevant or material. Respondent's misconduct rests upon independent factual findings by the Magistrate.

In the process of arguing this non-issue, Respondent resorts again to disingenuous argument. He seeks to mislead this Court by creating the impression that the EEOC took a position regarding the ninety day controversy. Respondent refers to three individuals who expressed their beliefs about various actions of the EEOC. All were witnesses after the fact, <u>i.e.</u>, Respondent received no communications from those witnesses upon which he could have based his conduct. Further, those witnesses and their testimony were thoroughly discredited at the final hearing.

With regard to Respondent's second argument, it is well settled law that the Court will not second guess a Referee's recommendation of discipline so long as there is a reasonable basis in the existing case law. The cases relied upon by the Bar set forth a range of discipline from one-year suspension to disbarment. The Referee's recommendation of a two-year suspension is within the range set forth in the existing case law and should not be disturbed. Respondent's third Argument contains no reference to the record. No facts were submitted to the Referee to support the claim that Respondent was not consulted regarding the proposed Report of Referee. Matters outside the record will not be considered on appeal. Furthermore, the Bar's Appendix establishes that Respondent's trial counsel was given an opportunity to comment on the proposed Report of Referee. Finally, the two cases cited by Respondent pertain to situations where findings were included in an order which had not been presented to the trier of fact and/or concededly did not reflect his thinking. No such claim has been advanced by the Respondent .

ARGUMENT I (Restated)

RESPONDENT HAS FAILED TO MEET HIS BURDEN OF PROVING THAT THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS LACKED COMPETENT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

As the Court stated in The Florida Bar v. Vining, 761 So.2d 1044 (Fla.

2000):

A referee's findings of fact regarding guilt carry a presumption of correctness that should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without support in the record. *See Florida Bar v. MacMillan,* 600 So.2d 457, 459 (Fla. 1992); *Florida Bar v. Vannier,* 498 So.2d 896, 898 (Fla. 1986). If the referee's findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence, this Court is precluded from reweighing the evidence and substituting its judgment for that of the referee. *See MacMillan,* 600 So.2d at 459. The party contending that the referee's findings of fact and conclusions as to guilt are erroneous carries the burden of demonstrating that there is no evidence in the record to support those findings or that the record evidence clearly contradicts the conclusions. *See Florida Bar v. Miele,* 605 So.2d 866, 868 (Fla. 1992).

The Referee found that Respondent violated Rules 4-3.3(a)(l) (A lawyer shall

not knowingly make a false statement of material fact or law to a tribunal); 4-3.4(a)

(A lawyer shall not unlawfully obstruct another party's access to evidence or

otherwise unlawfully alter, destroy, or conceal a document or other material that the

lawyer knows or reasonably should know is relevant to a pending proceeding; nor counsel or assist a witness to testify falsely); and 4-8.4(c) (A lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation) of the Rules of Professional Conduct.

Respondent, in Argument I, purports to raise the issue of whether the Bar proved its case by clear and convincing evidence. However, he does not bother to discuss the case law regarding the Referee's findings of fact, nor apply, nor refer to any evidence produced by the Bar, nor provide any references to the record.

Respondent does not even attempt to argue a lack of competent substantial evidence. As reflected in the Magistrate's order on sanctions, which was upheld on appeal, the Respondent had tried to prevent the appearance of Heidi Friedman as a witness and sought to prevent her from testifying as to the receipt of the first letter. (TFB Exh. 2, pp. 15, 17). Respondent denied seeing the first letter, but records of the law firm established that he did, as did a memo to the law firm (TFB Exh. 2, pp. 19-20).

Respondent met with Friedman to participate in the preparation of her affidavit. Respondent saw the first letter in her file. Respondent admitted that he had a duty to supplement his disclosures, but did not think of it regarding the first letter. (TFB Exh. 2, p. 21, 22). Respondent claimed at the final hearing that he erroneously admitted a duty to supplement. (T. 206). Nevertheless, he did conceal the truth in other contexts as the Magistrate concluded.

The Magistrate found that Respondent had repeatedly failed to disclose that Roberta Santini and attorney Friedman had received the first letter and "deliberately concealed" that fact. He had omitted any reference to that fact in his response memorandum and charged the Plaintiff Clinic with failure to provide the letter, when he had failed to tender it. (TFB Exh. 2, pp. 25-26, 28-29). He persisted in blaming the Clinic for his misconduct at the final hearing. (T. 205). Respondent "extended his deception" by submitting affidavits designed to conceal the truth, and by deceptive questions and objections. (TFB Exh. 2, pp. 29-31). Additional misconduct of the Respondent is set forth in detail in the Magistrate's Order (TFB Exh. 2) and the portions thereof contained in our Statement of Case and Facts.

Respondent does, however, attempt to reargue a non-issue, namely whether Respondent's theory of the proper calculation of the ninety day time period was correct. The Eleventh Circuit found that it was not. However, even if Respondent's legal position ultimately prevailed, that would not justify his conduct, amply detailed in the Order, which violated the Rules of Professional Conduct. It is that conduct discussed in detail by the Referee, which Respondent inadequately addresses. Despite the case law governing factual findings of the Referee (cited above), and the appellate ruling affirming the dismissal of the suit, and the affirmance of sanctions against Respondent, an attempt is made to reargue the legal issue of calculation of the time period.⁴ Assuming arguendo that this Court believes that the basis of calculating the ninety day period should be revisited, the Respondent's argument is frivolous.

Respondent improperly suggests in his Argument, as well as the Statement of the Case and Facts, that the EEOC was directly involved, and its statements supported Respondent's legal position. For example, Respondent states in his brief (p. 1) that:

> The EEOC, within weeks of issuing the invalid letter advised Miller's then associate, Heidi Friedman, to disregard the letter and that a valid and complete Right to Sue letter would be forthcoming.

Note first that <u>there was no testimony from any source that the EEOC</u> <u>advised anyone that the first letter was invalid</u>. Respondent's reference to the record, p. 113, lines 3-22, reveals a portion of paralegal Shari Levine's testimony as

⁴ In addition to the affirmance by the Eleventh Circuit, it is uncontradicted that the ninety day period begins on the date of <u>receipt</u>. That is clearly stated in the letters. (TFB Exhs. 6A, 6G). It is also stated in 29 CFR 1601.21(E). Therefore, the significance of an undated letter is zero. Respondent's own witness acknowledged that this was the case. (T. 96).

to what Friedman told her. The double hearsay is admissible. However, no reference to an "<u>invalid</u>" letter is included in her testimony and no portion of her testimony alleged that the EEOC employee said that a "<u>valid</u>" letter would be sent after the initial one. Those words were supplied by the Respondent. The words that "The EEOC . . . advised" were also somewhat misleading, insofar as only one conversation with one employee was the subject of Levine's testimony regarding what Friedman told her.⁵ Supposedly, that employee said that the first letter could be disregarded. However, Friedman's own notes from her file revealed only one conversation, and not the one reported by Levine. (TFB Exh. 2, pp. 18-19).

Respondent repeatedly describes the first letter as "invalid" and the second letter as "valid". No decision of any Court is cited in support of that description. Respondent also repeatedly refers to pronouncements as to what the EEOC did.⁶ Those assertions are inaccurate. They merely reflect opinions of witnesses regarding the activities of the EEOC pertaining to the two letters. Equating that testimony to official acts of the EEOC is ludicrous.

⁵ The order on sanctions discussed Respondent's efforts to prevent Friedman's testimony.

⁶ For example: The EEOC "declared" that a letter was inadvertently sent (R's brief, p. 1); The EEOC itself believed the first letter was a nullity (R's brief, p. 10); The EEOC issued the second valid Right to Sue letter. (R's brief, p. 2).

Respondent relies upon the testimony of John Colon, Fred Behul, and Shari Levine's testimony discussed above. All of these witnesses provided testimony that was after the fact. Neither Colon, Behul or Levine communicated with the Respondent regarding the alleged position of the EEOC. Even if all of them were authorized representatives of the EEOC, which they are not, Respondent could not have justified his conduct on the basis of information that he never received. That is, no witness stated that Respondent was provided with information from the EEOC which voided the effect of the first letter. Yet Respondent asserts in his brief the absurd contention that he was "entitled to believe and did believe the January 1998 letter had no legal effect." (R's brief, p. 10). If that was the case, why did he testify that when he saw the letter in Friedman's file "his heart went into [his] stomach? (TFB Exh. 2, p. 22).

Furthermore, what did these other witnesses actually say? Jim Colon was an employee of the EEOC. He was asked to review the file. He testified that the first letter was incomplete (T. 75) and the second letter provided a date.

Colon believed that the second letter should have governed, but conceded that there was no reconsideration of the case reflected in the second letter (T. 75-76). The Eleventh Circuit opinion held that under the circumstances, the first letter governed, notwithstanding Colon's opinion. <u>Santini v. Cleveland Clinic Florida</u>, 232 F.3d 823 (11th Cir. 2000).

Fred Behul was <u>not</u> an employee of the EEOC, but claimed that his employment with a Broward County agency provided familiarity with EEOC rules. (T. 81). He testified that one cannot toll a statute of limitations until you have "a date certain" (T. 85). Behul's position, however, was negated when he conceded that the Code of Federal Regulations, 29 CFR 1601.28(E), does not require a date stamp and that tolling begins on the date of <u>receipt</u> of the certified letter (T. 96). Behul added: "I have nothing to do with the EEOC. I work for Broward County." (T. 96). He also declared: "I don't know what their actual practice is on a daily basis in the Miami office. (T. 96)

In sum, Respondent's argument is misleading and frivolous. Respondent has failed to meet his burden of establishing error as to the findings of guilt.

ARGUMENT II (Restated)

RESPONDENT HAS FAILED TO ESTABLISH ERROR REGARDING THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION OF A TWO (2) YEAR SUSPENSION.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Vining</u>, 761 So.2d 1044 (Fla. 2000), this Court held that a Referee's recommendation of discipline would not be second guessed if there is a reasonable basis in existing case law. There is a reasonable basis in existing case law to support a two suspension. Furthermore, this Court has held that the <u>Standards Imposing Lawyer Sanctions</u> will also be considered. <u>The</u> <u>Florida Bar v. Temmer</u>, 753 So. 2d 555 (Fla. 1999).

Respondent claims that his conduct should be governed by those standards which are based upon <u>negligent</u> conduct. His argument in support of that position is that Respondent was negligent in "determining whether he should have taken the stance that he did." The Bar assumes that this Court will properly assess the logic of that position. It is additionally noted that the Referee found Respondent's actions were intentional. (ROR, p. 9).

The Bar would submit that the following Standards are applicable to this case:

- 6.0 Violations of Duties Owed to the Legal System
- 6.11- Disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer: (a) with the intent to deceive the court, knowingly makes a false statement, or submits a false document; or (b) improperly withholds material information, and causes serious or potentially serious injury to a party, or causes a significant or potentially significant adverse effect on the legal proceeding.
- 6.12- Suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knows that false statements or documents are being submitted to the court or that material information is improperly being withheld, and takes no remedial action.

Additional applicable Standards follow:

- 6.2 Abuse of the Legal Process
- 6.21 Disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly violates a court order or rule with the intent to obtain a benefit for the lawyer or another, and causes serious or potentially serious injury to a party or causes serious or potentially serious interference with a legal proceeding.
- 6.22- Suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly violates a court order or rule, and causes injury or potential injury to a client or a party, or causes interference or potential interference with a legal proceeding.

Respondent through his machinations directly interfered with the legal

process. Standard 6.22 addresses when an attorney directly interferes with a legal

proceeding.

Additional Standards which govern in this case follow:

7.0 Violations of Other Duties Owed as a Professional

- 7.1 Disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer intentionally engages in conduct that is a violation of a duty owed as a professional and with the intent to obtain a benefit for the lawyer or another, and causes serious injury or potentially serious injury to a client, the public, or the legal system.
- 7.2 Suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly engages in conduct that is a violation of a duty owed as a professional and causes injury or potential injury to a client, the public, or the legal system.

Respondent intentionally failed to disclose a crucial piece of evidence that he

knew was the main focus of the legal proceeding. He also engaged in a pattern of deceit throughout the case. Respondent did not concede that he received the letter until he was exposed at the hearing before the Magistrate. Despite his concession he continued his evasive actions. Respondent did not disclose he had actually reviewed the file at his firm, nor did he disclose to the Magistrate he had reviewed the right to sue letter back on February 2, 1998.

There are also a number of cases which support the Referee's recommendation. In <u>The Florida Bar v. Hmielewski</u>, 702 So.2d 218 (Fla. 1997), the respondent's client had surreptitiously removed medical records from the hospital whose property they were. The hospital was therefore unable to find or produce this critical evidence. The hospital requested that respondent produce any of the client's father's records that he had in his possession. The respondent falsely stated that all records in his client's possession had already been provided

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